**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions**

---

**RECEIVED**

**AUG 18 2017**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**The Honorable Donald Hocker, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No.2015-002206**

---

**The State of South Carolina, ..... Respondent,**

**vs**

**Timothy Artez Pulley, ..... Appellant.**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

**C. RAUCH WISE  
Attorney at Law  
305 Main Street  
Greenwood, SC 29646  
(864) 229-5010  
SC Bar #: 006188**

**Attorney for Appellant**

**

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Question I: Did the trial court err in charging the jury that they may infer Timothy Pulley had dominion and control of the drugs found on the back floorboard of the automobile he was driving when the automobile was the property of his girlfriend and he was driving with her permission?

Question II: Did the trial court er in failing to charge the jury that the state must prove a complete chain of custody before they can convict Timothy Pulley?

Question III: Did the trial court err in failing to suppress the items seized from the automobile driven by Timothy Pulley when the State failed to prove a proper chain of custody of the items seized?

Question IV: Did the trial court err in failing to require the State to open fully on the law and the facts of the case and replying only to new arguments of defense counsel when the defendant was deprived of a fair trial in violation of the due process clause of Article I, § 3 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina and the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States of America by his counsel not being able to respond to the new arguments made by the State in its rebuttal closing argument? ..... 18

Question V: Did the trial court err in failing to suppress the items seized from the automobile Timothy Pulley was driving when the officers for the City of Laurens failed to follow the written policy for inventory searches?

Question VI: Did the trial Court err in finding that the items seized from the automobile Timothy Pulley was driving were seized as a search incident to arrest for the marijuana charge?

## Statement of the Case

### *Procedural History*

Timothy Pulley was arrested on June 23, 2013 and charged with trafficking crack cocaine. He was indicted by the Laurens County Grand Jury on the charge. He was initially tried before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker and a jury on July 29, 2015. This trial resulted in a mistrial due to the jury being unable to reach a verdict.

He was tried a second time in a trial before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker and a jury beginning on October 6, 2016. He was sentenced to 25 years in prison and ordered to pay a fine of \$50,000.

Mr. Pulley filed his Notice of Intent to Appeal on October 19, 2015.

### *Factual History*

The police department for the City of Laurens pulled the automobile Mr. Pulley was driving in the early morning hours of June 23, 2013. He was initially arrested for driving under suspension and resisting arrest. Rec. on App. at 97, 126-25 The automobile he was driving was searched by the officers and the found crack cocaine in a yellow plastic bag on the back seat floorboard behind the driver's seat. The crack cocaine weighed 16.5 grams. Rec. on App. at 282, 117-9.

In addition, a small amount of marijuana was found on the person of Mr. Pulley. Whether the marijuana was found before or after the search of the automobile is a matter of dispute. The trial judge found that the marijuana was found before the search of the automobile. Rec. on App. at 135 112-6.

The suppression hearing held at the first trial was incorporated into the second

trial as Judge Hocker had presided at both trials. Rec. on App. at 99, 119 to 100, 115.

## Argument

### Question I

**Did the trial court err in charging the jury that they may infer Timothy Pulley had dominion and control of the drugs found on the back floorboard of the automobile he was driving when the automobile was the property of his girlfriend and he was driving with her permission?**

Over the objection of Timothy Pulley, the trial judge instructed the jury that “The defendant’s knowledge and possession may be inferred when a substance is found on the property under the defendant’s control.” Rec. on App. at 360, 1 23 to 361, 1 1. Such a charge is factually not correct and is not supported in the law of our state. In addition, the charge is a violation of Article V, § 21 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina.

*Such an Inference Charge is not Supported by the Prior Decisions in South Carolina*

The historical basis for so instructing a jury is simply not supported by a logical reading of the prior cases in South Carolina. The basis for such a charge is generally attributed to *State v. Adams*, 291 S.C. 132, 352 S.E.2d 483 (1987). In *Adams* the Supreme Court said “The proper charge on constructive possession is to instruct the jury that the defendant’s knowledge and possession may be inferred if the substance was found on premises under his control.” *Id.* at 135, 352 S.E.2d at 486. In support of this statement the Court cited *State v. Hudson*, 277 S.C. 200, 284 S.E.2d 773 (1981). But *Hudson* does not support such a charge. All *Hudson* holds is that if a defendant is exercising dominion and control over the premises, then the case should be submitted to the jury. The Court said “Where contraband materials are found on premises under the control of the accused, this fact in and of itself gives rise to an inference of knowledge

which may be sufficient to carry the case to the jury.” *Id.* at 203, 284 S.E.2d at 775. The Court in *Hudson* made no reference to a jury charge. For the jury to reach such a conclusion on their own without an instruction from the judge is certainly permissible. To give the state the edge by telling, and thus encouraging, the jury to make such an inference, is not permissible.

In addition in *Adams* and *Hudson* the drugs were found on the property either owned or the residence of the defendant. In the present case, Mr. Pulley was merely the driver of an automobile owned by his girlfriend. To tell a jury they may infer knowledge and possession from the fact that Mr. Pulley was the driver of an automobile owned by a third party is a misleading charge on the facts. What this charge tells the jury is that in a close case, they may use the fact that the defendant was driving an automobile owned by a third party as evidence of his knowledge and possession of the drugs and therefore his guilt. Few people who drive automobiles owned by a third party know of the contents of those automobiles.

In *Leary v. United States*, 385 U.S. 6 (1969) the United States Supreme Court addressed the question of whether Congress could constitutionally pass a statute that established a presumption of knowledge of illegal importation from the mere fact that the defendant possessed a small amount of marijuana. In rejecting such a presumption the Court held “Such information is ‘not within specialized judicial competence or completely common place.’” *Id.* at 38. Likewise, under the facts of this case, it is not commonplace to infer knowledge and possession from the fact that a person was driving an automobile they did not own. As there is no basis in fact to support such an inference,

the charge also violates the due process clause of Article I, § 3 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina and the Fourteenth Amendment of the Constitution of the United States of America.

To what use did the jury use the inference? While this question obviously cannot be answered with certainty, the Court can only assume the jury followed the judge's instructions. That being true, the reasonable assumption is that the jury used the inference if the case were close simply because that is what they were instructed to do. The State in its closing argument certainly encouraged the jury to use the inference the judge would charge to the jury. Rec. on App. at 336, ll 19-21. The jury would be less likely to use the inference if the evidence against a defendant is very strong. When the jury decides that in a close case, they will use the inference to persuade them the case has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt, then the burden of proof required of the State has been lessened. This would violate the principles established in *In Re Winship*, 397U.S. 358 (1970). When the only means the State has to win a case is to tell the jury they may infer guilt from the proof of certain facts, the State has not proven its case beyond a reasonable doubt. Arguably when two equally plausible conclusions can be drawn from the same set of facts, the government has not met its burden of eliminating other reasonable hypothesis and therefore has not met its burden of proof.

In discussing the use of presumptions and inferences, the United States Supreme Court has said "But where the inference is so strained as not to have a reasonable relation to the circumstances of life as we know them it is not competent for the legislature to create it as a rule governing the procedure of courts." *Tot v. United States*, 319 U.S. 463,

468 (1943). Common knowledge and experience would require one to conclude that few if any are fully aware of the contents of an automobile they may borrow from a friend or even rent. This is even more so when the item in controversy is concealed in a bag on the back floorboard of an automobile. If the legislature may not create such a rule, then neither may the courts.

The Supreme Court of Washington has also discussed the question of permissive inference in the context of an inference of intent to steal from breaking into a residence. The Court said “Because it was not the sole and sufficient proof of intent in these consolidated cases, the inference is constitutional if intent to commit a crime more likely than not flows from unlawful entry.” *State v. Brunson*, 128 Wash.2d 98, 112, 905 P.2d 346, 353 (1995). Here the only proof of any intent to possess the drugs is the fact that the drugs were found in the automobile being driven by Mr. Pulley. And again certainly knowledge of the contents of a borrowed automobile is not a fact that more likely than not flows from such possession.

Under facts similar to this case, some states even hold that the facts would not even be sufficient to take the case to the jury. In *Woolridge v. Texas*, 514 S.W.2d 257 (Ct. Crim. App. 1974) the Texas court reversed the conviction of the defendant when the testimony established that he was not the owner of the automobile, he had been driving it for less than five hours, and the marijuana was not readily visible. In the *Woolridge* case, as in this one, the girlfriend who owned the automobile testified she did not put the marijuana in the automobile. In reversing the case the Court said “In this case, the record does not contain evidence linking the appellant to the marijuana found in the car he had

borrowed. The marijuana was not discovered in plain view.” *Id.* at 259. In this case no evidence links Mr. Pulley with the drugs and the drugs were not discovered in plain view. If the evidence is not sufficient to convict in Texas, there is certainly no basis to conclude that the jury should be told to infer Mr. Pulley had knowledge of the drugs and the intent to exercise dominion and control over the drugs simply because they were in the automobile he was driving and did not own.

In *LaVerne v. State*, 559 S.W.2d 282 (Mo. App. S.D. 1990) the defendant owned the automobile in question. Drugs were found in a box in the trunk of the automobile. There was also testimony that other people had also driven the automobile in the past. At the time of the search, the defendant had been released from an overnight stay at the local jail. The Missouri Court of Appeals reversed the conviction holding the facts were not sufficient to sustain the conviction. The Court said “The only evidence that implicates the defendant was the fact of defendant's ownership of the vehicle. Missouri does not recognize the presumption that the owner is charged with knowledge of everything found in his or her vehicle.” *Id.* at 285. In Missouri even ownership does not give rise to any presumption or inference that the defendant has knowledge, dominion and control over the drugs found.

The Mississippi Supreme Court, and several others, have said “When the State's case is based entirely upon circumstantial evidence the State is required to prove the defendant guilty not only beyond a reasonable doubt but to the exclusion of every reasonable hypothesis consistent with innocence.” *Cotton v. State*, 144 So.3d 137, 140 (Miss.2014). This obligation cannot be met by telling a jury they may infer one version

of the facts over another. *See, also, Owen v. State*, 432 So.2d 579, 581 (Fla.App. 2 Dist.,1983) (“It is not sufficient that the facts create a strong probability of, and be consistent with, guilt. They must also eliminate all reasonable hypotheses of innocence.”); *People v. Wolter*, 396 N.E.2d 1102, 1106, 33 Ill.Dec. 378, 382, 78 Ill.App.3d 32, 38 (Ill.App. 1 Dist., 1979) (“The undoubted rule in such case is that, before a conviction can properly be had upon purely circumstantial evidence, the guilt of the accused must be so thoroughly established as to exclude every reasonable hypothesis of his innocence.”); *Davis v. State*, 90 So.2d 629, 632 (Fla. 1956) (“ Even though the circumstantial evidence is sufficient to suggest a probability of guilt, it is not thereby adequate to support a conviction if it is likewise consistent with a reasonable hypothesis of innocence.”); *Clemmer v. Commonwealth*, 208 Va. 661, 666, 159 S.E.2d 664, 667(1968) (“The Commonwealth's evidence must exclude every reasonable hypothesis of innocence.”). South Carolina does not apply such a high standard of review on appeal. *State v. Larmand*, 415 S.C. 23, 780 S.2d 892 (2015). This does not mean that this Court should approve a charge to the jury that instructs them to give preference to the State’s theory of the case.

No doubt eliminating a charge that the jury may infer knowledge, dominion and control of the drugs from control of the automobile where the drugs are found will result in some guilty individuals not being convicted. But it will also assure that some innocent defendants will not be convicted. As was said by the Pennsylvania Supreme Court:

It is true, of course, that permitting the Commonwealth to introduce the out-of-court assertions ... against the defendant ... would make it easier to convict the guilty. Unfortunately, it would

also make it easier to convict the innocent. If such a trade-off is acceptable, why not suspend the hearsay rule entirely when the Commonwealth introduces evidence in a criminal case? More defendants, guilty and innocent alike, would undoubtedly be convicted. The same result would obtain if we allowed the Commonwealth to introduce coerced confessions.

However, such a trade-off is not acceptable. It is a fundamental precept of law in Pennsylvania that one charged with crime, be it murder, child abuse, or keeping a public nuisance, comes to trial clothed in the presumption of innocence. If we bear this in mind, we will be less tempted to distort the law of evidence in favor of the Commonwealth in order to increase the conviction rate. The Commonwealth should be bound by the same rules of evidence, including the hearsay rule, as other litigants.

*Commonwealth v. Bujanowski*, 418 Pa. Super. 163, 172, 613 A.2d 1227, 1232 (1992).

*Charging the Jury They may Infer Knowledge, Dominion and Control of Drugs Found in the Automobile Under the Control of Timothy Pulley is a Charge on the Facts in Violation of Article V, § 21 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina.*

Article V, § 21 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina provides

“Judges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law.”

This provision simply means that judges may not tell a jury to place emphasis on one fact over another. To do so is to instruct the jury as to the importance of certain facts to the exclusion of others. ” In interpreting this provision our Supreme Court has held that a trial court may not charge a jury that they can infer acceptance by the railroad of a

package left on their loading dock for a period of time. As the Court said:

The circuit judge laid down in the charge of the proposition that the jury might properly infer the consent of the railroad company to the placing of property on its platform from the fact that an agent has notice of its being placed there and makes no objection. In view of the issues made on the trial, we think this was a charge on the facts.

*Yarborough v. Southern Ry.*, 78 S.C. 103, \_\_\_, 58 S.E. 936, 937 (1907). The Court held that charging such an inference is a comment upon the facts in violation of the State constitution.

In *Finch v. Atlanta and C Airline Ry.*, 87 S.C. 190, 69 S.E. 208 (1907) the South Carolina Supreme Court held that instructing a jury they may infer negligence from particular facts was a comment on the facts in violation of our State constitution. The Court said:

What inferences may be drawn from the circumstances appearing on the trial, from the direct evidence, from the manner of the witnesses, the introduction of evidence, or the failure to introduce it-all are for the jury. The Constitution does not allow the presiding judge to state the evidence, much less does it allow him to single out any particular act or omission of the defendant, and instruct the jury that, if that appears, then they may infer that the defendant was negligent. *Id.* at 69 S.E. at 209.

In this case the trial judge singled out a particular fact - who was driving the automobile - and instructed the jury they may infer he was the possessor of the drugs. Such a charge is a charge on the facts in violation of our constitution. The charge takes one particular fact, and heightens it above all the others. What if the drugs were found under the floor mat on the passenger side where a passenger was sitting? Could the trial judge have charged that the jury may infer that drugs found under the floor mat are in the possession of the person sitting on that side of the automobile? That charge would actually make more factual sense than saying a person driving an automobile knows what is in the automobile. This is especially true when the person is not the owner of the automobile. No trial court would ever charge that a jury can infer the defendant did not

possess the drugs because he was not the owner of the house or automobile. Why is the State the only party to achieve such an inference charge?

In *State v. Hartley*, 307 S.C. 239, 414 S.E.2d 182 (1992) the defendant requested that a charge to the jury simply stating that the absence of motive “is to be duly considered by you in weighing the question of guilt regarding him.” *Id.* at 240, 414 S.E.2d at 183. The Court held that such a charge was improper as it was a charge on the facts in violation of the state constitution. As the Supreme Court held “Thus, the trial judge was requested, in effect, to charge that particular evidence (*i.e.* evidence of lack of motive) is entitled to receive weight or consideration. The requested charge is clearly a charge on the fact that the jury was to determine.” *Id.* at 241, 414 S.E.2d at 184. Any inference charge is legally no different. A judge in essence would tell the jury that particular evidence is entitled to receive special weight or consideration

In *State v. Bagwell*, 201 S.C. 387, 23 S.E.2d 244 (1942)<sup>1</sup> the defendant had requested a simple charge that the testimony of a co-defendant was to be “received by the jury with caution and should be scrutinized by the jury with great caution.” *Id.* at \_\_\_\_, 23 S.E.2d at 249. In holding the trial court did not commit error, the South Carolina Supreme Court said “A judge cannot express in his charge, or intimate any opinion as to the *weight or sufficiency* of testimony of accomplice without violating the prohibition of the Constitution as to charging upon the facts.” *Id.* (emphasis added). When a judge instructs a jury that they may infer guilt from the fact that the defendant is in control of

---

<sup>1</sup>

T. FELDOR DORN, GUNS OF MEETING STREET (The University of South Carolina Press 2006) chronicles this murder and trial in great detail.

the automobile, that judge is both expressing and intimating an opinion as to the weight and sufficiency of the evidence. He is making a comment on the facts and telling a jury what they may do with those particular facts. Such a statement violates the Constitution in that it is a comment on a particular fact of the case. The comment as to an inference tells the jury to place special emphasis on one fact above all others.

## **Question II**

**Did the trial court er in failing to charge the jury that the state must prove a complete chain of custody before they can convict Timothy Pulley?**

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