ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Laurens County  
Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2015-002206

---

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Timothy Artez Pulley,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO  
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

AUG 02 2017

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Laurens County

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

(T.268; 272-273; R.351; 355-356). The judge's charge clearly explained to the jury its role in determining the facts of the case, in evaluating the testimony of the witnesses, and in assigning whatever weight they desired to the evidence presented.

Additionally, Appellant was able to argue to the jury that they should discount the reliability of the drugs and raised questions regarding the testimony supporting a chain of custody. (T.242-244; R.325-327). Through cross-examination and argument is exactly where a defense attorney should raise these questions so the jury can then use the charges above to determine what weight to give the evidence and what credibility to assign the witnesses. The trial court's instructions properly and sufficiently charged the jury on its responsibility in considering the evidence presented and no charge specifically related to a presentation of a chain of custody was warranted.<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> Additionally, a charge which required the jury to specifically consider a chain of custody related to the drug evidence in this case could be an impermissible charge on the facts.

**III. The trial court did not err in admitting evidence seized from the automobile because a sufficient chain of custody was established by the State.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in admitting the drug evidence seized from the automobile because the State failed to provide a sufficient chain of custody. The State provided a complete chain of custody, as far as practicable, and therefore, the trial court did not err in making the gatekeeper determination that the drugs were admissible.

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001); State v. Butler, 353 S.C. 383, 388, 577 S.E.2d 498, 500 (Ct. App. 2003). “The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.

In order to admit the drug evidence:

[A] party offering into evidence fungible items such as drugs or blood samples must establish a complete chain of custody as far as practicable. Where an analyzed substance that has passed through several hands, the identity of individuals who acquired the evidence and what was done with the evidence between the taking and the analysis must not be left to conjecture. Accordingly, if the identity of each person handling the evidence is established, and the manner of handling is reasonably demonstrated, no abuse of discretion by the trial court is shown in admitting the evidence absent proof of tampering, bad faith, or ill-motive.

State v. Sweet, 374 S.C. 1, 6, 647 S.E.2d 202, 205-206 (2007) (emphasis added) (citing Benton v. Pellum, 232 S.C. 26, 33, 100 S.E.2d 534, 537 (1957); State v. Taylor, 360 S.C. 18, 25, 598 S.E.2d 735, 738 (Ct. App. 2004)); see also State v. Kahan, 268 S.C. 240, 244-45, 233 S.E.2d 293, 294 (1977) (holding the standard stated in Benton v. Pellum had been met where the evidence was transported in accordance with normal protocol, even though every person who

may have handled it was not personally identified and there was no testimony regarding the care and handling of the item for an interval when it was being stored).

“South Carolina law does not require testimony as to the exclusion of any possibility of tampering.” State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 187, 603 S.E.2d 910, 915 (Ct. App., 2004). The Courts of this State have found evidence inadmissible only where there is a missing link in the chain of possession because the identity of those who handled the evidence was not established at least as far as practicable. State v. Carter, 344 S.C. 419, 424, 544 S.E.2d 835, 837 (2001). “In other words, where there is a weak link in the chain of custody, as opposed to a missing link, the question is only one of credibility, not admissibility.” Carter, 344 S.C. at 424, 544 S.E.2d at 837. Importantly: “Whether the chain of custody has been established as far as practicable clearly depends on the unique factual circumstances of each case.” South Carolina Dep’t of Soc. Servs. v. Cochran, 364 S.C. 621, 629 n.1, 614 S.E.2d 642, 646 n.1 (2005). The Supreme Court has stated:

Courts have abandoned inflexible rules regarding the chain of custody and the admissibility of evidence in favor of a rule granting discretion to the trial courts. “The trial judge's exercise of discretion must be reviewed in the light of the following factors: ‘. . . the nature of the article, the circumstances surrounding the preservation and custody of it, and the likelihood of intermeddlers tampering with it.’” “If upon the consideration of such factors the trial judge is satisfied that in reasonable probability the article has not been changed in important respects, he may permit its introduction in evidence.”

State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 94-95, 708 S.E.2d 750, 754-755 (2011). The Court in Hatcher indicated: “The ultimate goal of chain of custody requirements is simply to ensure that the item is what it is purported to be.” Id.

In the instant case, the State presented a sufficient chain of custody to indicate the drugs seized from Appellant were the same drugs analyzed and brought to trial. Appellant takes issue

with the sequence of events from seizure to the drugs coming into the possession of the evidence custodian for Laurens Police Department.<sup>4</sup> At trial, the State presented the testimony of Officers Craven and Brewer as well as the former evidence custodian to establish the chain of custody.

Officer Craven testified to finding a yellow Dollar General bag, which further contained plastic bags of crack cocaine, in the vehicle driven by Appellant. (T.103; 105; R.184; 186). He then testified he placed the dugs “in evidence inside the Laurens Police Department.” (T.106; R.187). Officer Craven then described the evidence locker at the Laurens Police Department. He indicated:

We take the evidence -- there's two evidence lockers that are upstairs at the Laurens Police Department. They are like the old mailbox now when you pull the handle and you [ ] drop stuff inside of it. They've got a padlock on the bottom. The only person at the time that had the key to it was John Stankus. Once the drugs were placed in there, he's only person that would be able to get them in and out for evidence purposes.

(T.106; R.187).

Lieutenant Brewer initially testified he did not take the drugs from the scene, but that normally the officer who made the charges would take possession of the drugs. (T.126; R.217). Lieutenant Brewer indicated he believed either Officer Craven or another officer, identified as Andrew Ashley, must have taken possession of the drugs. (T.126-127; R.217-218). Lieutenant Brewer indicated “I don't recollect as far as how the drugs got from there to the patrol office.” (T.127; R.218). However, after viewing the video in which Officer Craven is seen leaving the scene while the drugs are still on Lieutenant Brewer's vehicle, he was recalled to testify. The following colloquy occurred:

Q Who seized the drugs?

---

<sup>4</sup> Appellant raises no argument regarding the portion of the chain of custody involving SLED and the ultimate analysis of the crack cocaine. The testimony of Ms. McCormick clearly established the relevant chain of custody once the drugs arrived at SLED. (T.186-187; R.272-273).

A Officer Craven.  
Q Okay. And, uh, they were placed on the hood of your car? Was that your car in the video that we saw?  
A That's correct.  
Q Mr. Wise was asking you some questions about what happened to them after Mr. Craven left the scene. Do you remember him asking those questions?  
A I do.  
Q And watching the video, he clearly leaves the scene with Mr. Pulley while the drugs are on the hood of your car; is that fair to say?  
A Yes, sir. It is.  
Q During that window of time after he seized the drugs and then he put the drugs in the lock box, where was the crack cocaine?  
A After having an opportunity to review the video -- because, like I said, it had been two years -- the drugs were left with me. And I turned them back over to Craven prior to the end of the shift.  
Q All right. Just to recap, he seized the drugs. He left with Pulley. Do you know where he went with Mr. Pulley?  
A Yes, sir. He took him to the Laurens Police Department where a DataMaster was offered to him.  
Q At that time, he left the crack with you; is that your testimony?  
A Yes, sir. It is.  
Q You took the crack cocaine from McDonald's to where?  
A To the police department.  
Q Okay. And then what did you do with the crack cocaine?  
A I put it in Officer Craven's possession.  
Q Okay. Then he would've taken them to the drop box?  
A Yes, sir.

(T.198-200; R.284-286).

The former evidence custodian testified he retrieved the evidence out of the evidence lock box. He indicated the officer delivering the evidence to the evidence lock box would package it into the SLED BEST pack and then place it into the lock box. (T.150; R.241). He maintained the drugs in this case were retrieved from the lock box even though a chain of custody form indicated he received the items personally from Officer Craven. (T.155; R.246).

He also indicated the drugs were already in the BEST pack when he retrieved them from the locker. (T.154; R.245).

Appellant raises issues with regard to the credibility of the chain of custody. These issues are solely for the determination of the jury. The individuals who handled the drugs were all identified. While there may have been confusion initially regarding exactly who removed the drugs from the scene, the testimony ultimately established Officer Craven seized the drugs and placed them on the hood of Lieutenant Brewer's vehicle. Lieutenant Brewer then transported the drugs to the Laurens Police Department where he turned them over to Officer Craven. Officer Craven placed the drugs in the lock box, or evidence locker, where they were retrieved by the evidence custodian and ultimately transported to SLED. As a result, the State presented a complete chain of custody identifying all individuals involved. Any issue regarding the credibility of that testimony, any conflicts in that testimony, or the failure to immediately place the items in a tamper proof bag at the scene go to the weight of the evidence and not the admissibility.

Further, any discrepancy in whether the evidence custodian received the drugs personally from Officer Craven or from the lock box after they were delivered by Officer Craven does not create an admissibility issue. In State v. Johnson, 318 S.C. 194, 456 S.E.2d 442 (Ct. App. 1995), two Officers testified to a different sequence of events and dates for how evidence was deposited into the secure evidence storage. The Court found "Although a discrepancy existed as to the dates Dailey received the evidence, no evidence was presented to indicate the drugs were not within the control of identifiable people during the entire time. A reconciliation of this discrepancy was not necessary to establish the chain of custody, but merely reflected upon the credibility of the evidence rather than its admissibility" Johnson, 318 S.C. at 196, 456 S.E.2d at

444. Any discrepancy in the form and testimony in this case goes directly to the credibility of the evidence and provided a basis for Appellant to challenge that credibility before the jury—something he did in both cross-examination and closing argument. It did not, however, go to the admissibility as found by the trial court. As a result, the trial court did not err in finding the State presented a sufficient chain of custody and admitting the drugs.

**IV. The trial court did not err in failing to require the State to open fully on the law and facts and reply only to arguments of defense counsel. Further, even if error, any error was entirely harmless.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in failing to require the State to open fully on the law and facts and to reply only to arguments of defense counsel. Initially, the State notes the trial court applied to correct order of closing arguments based on the procedural precedent at the time of trial. Further, Appellant failed to object to any improper arguments made by the solicitor. Finally, any possible error in the order of closing arguments was entirely harmless in this case because the only instances Appellant indicated he would have responded were not examples of “sandbagging,” Appellant was able to thoroughly present his theory of the case, and Appellant should not have been surprised by the arguments of the solicitor.

Historically, the right to the final closing argument has followed the party with the burden of proof. Stein Closing Arguments § 1:6: Right to open and close; order of argument (2011-2012 ed.) (“Generally, the right to make opening and closing follows the person having the burden of proof.”); Nicole Velasco, Taking the “Sandwich” Off of the Menu: Should Florida Depart from Over 150 years of Its Criminal Procedure and Let Prosecutors Have the Last Word?, 29 Nova L.Rev. 99, 112 (2004) (“At common law, the widely accepted rule in the United States is that the party with the burden of proof has the right to open and conclude final argument before the jury.”).

In criminal trials in South Carolina, a solicitor is entitled to open and close the closing arguments to the jury unless the defendant has not offered any evidence. State v. Rodgers, 269 S.C. 22, 24, 235 S.E.2d 808, 809 (1977). The initial closing argument must include a discussion of the law if demanded by the defendant; however, the solicitor is not required to open his initial closing with any argument on the facts although he may do so as a matter of discretion. State v.

Lee, 255 S.C. 309, 318, 178 S.E.2d 652, 656 (1971) overruled on other grounds by State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (S.C. Oct 12, 2009); Rodgers, 269 S.C. at 25, 235 S.E.2d at 809. This was the procedure in place at the time of trial and utilized by the trial court in this case.

Totally denying a criminal defendant the opportunity for closing argument constitutes a denial of the defendant's basic right to make his defense. Herring v. New York, 422 U.S. 853, 858-859 (1975). While the right to make a closing argument cannot be circumvented, the order of argument is vastly different, particularly since argument is not evidence. See, e.g., Ex parte Morris, 367 S.C. 56, 624 S.E.2d 649, 653 (2006), *quoting* S.C. Dept. of Transp. v. Thompson, 357 S.C. 101, 590 S.E.2d 511, 513 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[a]rguments made by counsel are not evidence”); Sosebee v. Leeke, 293 S.C. 531, 362 S.E.2d 22, 24 (1987) (“the solicitor’s closing argument is not evidence”). There is no constitutional right to a certain order or scope of argument.

The order of closing arguments is a matter of state procedural rule or practice rather than substantive law. State v. Huckie, 22 S.C. 298, 299 (1885) (alleged error in denying defendant final closing argument was “not a matter of error as to express law, but of practice”). The United States Supreme Court has consistently held the States are free to shape their own rules of procedure. See, e.g., United States v. Scheffer, 523 U.S. 303, 316 (1998), *quoting* Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 302 (1973) (“we thus stressed that the ruling did not ‘signal any diminution in the respect traditionally accorded to the States in the establishment and implementation of their own criminal trial rules and procedures.’”).

The practice followed by the trial court did not result in “sandbagging” by the State because all of the arguments made by the solicitor were entirely consistent with the State’s

theory throughout trial. Appellant references a few instances he would have responded to if he had the opportunity to hear the State's entire argument before presenting his argument; however, all of the instances he notes were statements by the solicitor consistent with the theory that the drugs were Appellant's and not some third persons. The order of closing argument did not amount to a violation of Appellant's due process rights or any other constitutional right.<sup>5</sup>

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